






















































Case 1:18-cr-00681-WFK   Document 10   Filed 01/03/19   Page 28 of 47 PageID #: 286

$7 million to the defendant MANUEL CHANG and $3 million to Mozambican Co-

Conspirator 3, among others. 

77, In an effort to conceal the unlawful nature of these payments, the 

defendants JEAN BOUSTANI, ed third-

party entities and fabricated invoices to distribute money to the Mozambican government 

officials. For example, on or about October 17, 2013, BOUSTANI Wrote an email to. 

stating: "I need asap invoices in the name of: Logistics International Abu Dhabi 

[a Privinvest-related company]. Invoices for everything my brother. Each one mentioning 

the subject (real estate purchase., .etc .... ). Even for Pantero [the defendant MANUEL 

CHANG], a small paper say 'consultancy fees,'" 

78. Accordingly, on or about and between October 20, 2013 and December 

4, 2013, the defendant JEAN BOUSTANI caused Privinvest to make bribe payments of 

approximately $5 million, from Privinvest's DAB-based bank account, through the Eastem 

District of New York, to a ban1c account in the name of a company controlled by the 

defendant MANUEL CHANG. 

E. MAM 

(1) MAM Loan Agreement 

79. On or about May 1, 2014, MAM and Privinvest executed an 

approximately $500 million contract for Privinvest to, among other things, build a shipyard, 

provide additional naval vessels and upgrade two existing facilities to service Proindicus and 

EMATUM vessels. 

80, On or about May 20, 2014, Investment Bank 2 and the Privinvest entity 

Palomar, acting through the defendants ANDREW PEARSE and DETELINA SUBEV A, 
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together with others, ananged a syndicated loan of up to $540 million to MAM, guaranteed 

by the Republic of Mozambique (the "MAM Loan"). Investment Bank 2 solicited investors, 

using, among other things, the MAM loan agreement and a confidential information 

memorandum that summarized its terms. As with the Proindicus and the EMATUM loans, 

the loan agreement required that the MAM loan proceeds be used for project purposes and 

prohibited illegal and corrupt payments. 

I 

the loan agreement on behalf ofMAM, and the defendant MANUEL CHANG signed the 

government guarantee on behalf of Mozambique. 

81. The MAM loan agreement also provided that all payments required 

under the agreement were to be made through a bank account in New York City at a New 

York City-based financial institution ("New York City Bank 2"), the identity of which is 

lmown to the Grand Jury. 

82. On or about and between approximately May 23, 2014 and June 11, 

2014, MAM borrowed approximately $535 million from Investment Bank 2, guaranteed by 

the Republic of Mozambique, which Investment Bank 2 sent directly to Privinvest through 

correspondent bank accounts at New York City Bank 2. 

(2) MAM Bribe and Kickback Payments 

83. An accounting spreadsheet maintained by 

-reflected that Privinvest made bribe and ldckback payments to obtain the MAM 

contract. Such payments included approximately $13 million to 

approximately $5 million to the defendant MANUEL CHANG, 

approximately $918,000 to Mozambican Co-Conspirator 2 and approximately $1.8 million to 

Mozambicap. Co-Conspirator 3, 
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84. Despite projecting approximately $63 million in operating revenues by 

the end of its first year of operations, MAM generated virtually no revenues and defaulted on 

its loan payment due on or about May 23, 2016. 

F. EMATUMExchange 

85. In or about 2015, Proindicus, EMATUM, MAM and Mozambique 

encountered problems servicing the approximately $2 billion in debt they had amassed in 

2013 and 2014, including as a result of the Proindicus, EMATUM and MAM Loans. 

Furthermore, at around the same time, Mozambican government officials, including. 

received inquiries from the IMF concerning the use of 

some of the loan proceeds. 

86. To hide from the public and the IMF the near banlauptcy of the project 

companies resulting from loan proceeds being diverted as part ofthe fraudulent scheme, 

avoid inquiry from the IMF and conceal discovery of the scheme, several of the co~ 

conspirators, including the defendants JEAN BOUST ANI; ANDREW PEARSE and 

DETELINA SUBEV A, proposed to exchange the EMATUM loan participation notes for 

Emobonds issued directly by the Mozambican government. 

87. In furtherance of the fraudulent scheme, in or about and between March 

2015 and May 2015, Investment Bank 1 employees, together with the defendants JEAN 

BOUSTANI, ANDREW PEARSE and DETELINA SUBEVA, organized meetings with 

Mozambican government officials to convince them to restructure the existing loans by 

converting them into Eurobonds. The Mozambican government accepted the co~ 

conspirators' recommendation and hired Investment Ban1c 1 and Investment Bank 2 to 
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conduct the exchange and Palomar, which employed PEARSE and SUBEV A, as an adviser 

for the exchange. 

88. On or about March 9, 2016, Investment Bank 1 and Investment Bank 2 

announced the exchange. To convince investors to exchange their loan participation notes 

for Eurobonds, the defendants ANDREW PEARSE and DETELINA SUBEV A, together 

with bankers at Investment Bank 1 and Investment Banlc 2, prepared documents that were 

sent to investors, including in the United States. The exchange documents failed to 

adequately disclose the existence of the Proindicus and MAM Loans or the maturity dates of 

those loans. The documents therefore contained false and misleading information about the 

Eurobonds and Mozambique's creditworthiness. 

89. By on or about April6, 2016, based upon the co~conspir~tors' false and 

misleading information, the EMATUM investors consented to the exchange, resulting in the 

exchange of the EMATUM LPNs for Eurobonds on that same day. 

G. Proindicus, EMATUM andMAMLoanDefaults 

90. Following the 2016 EMATUM exchange, in or about and between May 

2016 and March 2017, Proindicus, EMATUM and MAM each defaulted on their loans, and 

Proindicus, EMATUM and MAM proceeded to miss more than $700 million in loan 

payments. 

H. Summary of Bribe and Kickback Payments 

91, In furtherance of the fraudulent scheme, numerous Mozambican 

government officials received bribe and kickback payments from Privinvest in connection 

with the Mozambican projects. Specifically: 
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(a) The defendant MANUEL CHANG received at least $5 million 

in bribe and kickback payments from Privinvest. 

(d) Mozambican Co-Conspirator lreceived at least $8.5 million in 

bribe and kickback payments from Privinvest. 

(e) Mozambican Co-Conspirator 2 received at least $9.7 million in 

bribe and ldckback payments from Privinvest. 

(f) Mozambican Co-Conspirator 3 received at least $2 million in 

bribe and kickback payments from Privinvest. 

92. The defendant JEAN BOUSTANI received approximately $15 million 

Jrom the proceeds of Privinvest' s fraudulent scheme. In or about and between May 2013 

and July 2014, PrivinvestpaidBOUSTANI these funds in a series ofwire transfers, many of 

which were paid through a correspondent ban1c account in New York City and passed 

through the Eastern District ofNew York 

93. Also in furtherance of the scheme, the defendants ANDREW PEARSE, 

SURJAN SINGH and DETELINA SUBEV A received bribe and ldckback payments in 

connection with the Mozambican projects. Specifically: 

(a) The defendant ANDREW PEARSE received over $45 million 

in bribe and kickback payments from Privinvest in connection with the Mozambican 

maritime projects. Many of these bribe and kickback payments were paid through a 
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correspondent banlc account inN ew York City and passed through the Eastem District of 

NewYo1'lc. 

(b) The defendant SURJAN SINGH received bribe and kickback 

payments totaling approximately $4.5 million from Privinvest. At least one bribe and 

kickback payment from Privinvest was paid through a correspondent account in New York 

City and passed through the Eastem District ofNew York. 

(c) The defendant DETELINA SUBEV A received bribe and 

ldckback payments of at least $2.2 million from the defendant ANDREW PEARSE. 

COUNT ONE 
(Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud) 

94. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 93 are realleged 

and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph. 

95. In or about and between 2011 and the date of the filing of this 

Indictment, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastem District ofNew 

York and elsewhere, the defendants IDAN BODS 

CHANG, 

SURJAN SINGH and DETELINA SUBEVA, together with others, did knowingly and 

intentionally conspire to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud one or more investors and 

potential investors in Proindicus, EMATUM and MAM, and to obtain money and property 

from them by means of one or more materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations 

and promises, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, to transmit and 

cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce 
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writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, contrmy to Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 1343. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551 et ~.) 

COUNT TWO 
(Conspiracy to Commit Securities Fraud) 

96. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 93 are realleged 

and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph. 

97. In or about and between 2013 and the date ofthe filing ofthis 

Indictment, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District ofNew 

York and elsewhere, the defendants JEAN BOUSTANI, MANUEL 

CHANG, ANDREW PEARSE, SURJAN SINGH and 

DETELINA SUBEV A, together with others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to use and 

employ one or more manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances, contrary to Ru1e 

1 Ob~5 of the Rules and Regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange 

Commission, Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by: (i) employing 

one or more devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (ii) making one or more untrue 
I 

statements of material fact and omitting to state material facts necessary in order to ma1ce the 

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 

and (iii) engaging in one or more acts, practices and courses of business which would and did 

operate as a fraud and deceit upon investors and potential investors in EMATUM, in 

connection with the purchase and sale of investments in EMATUM, directly and indirectly, 

by use of means and instmmentalities of interstate commerce and the mails, contrary to Title 

15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff. 
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98. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects, within the 

Eastem District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants JEAN BOUSTANI,-

-MANUEL CHANG ANDREW PEARSE, SURJAN 

SINGH and DETELINA SUBEV A, together with others, did commit and cause to be 

committed, among others, the following: 

OVERT ACTS 

(a) On or about June 26, 2013, Privinvest sent approximately 

$1 million from the Proindicus loan proceeds to a banlc account that PEARSE held at UAE 

Bank 2, which payment passed through a correspondent banlc account in the United States 

and the Eastem District ofNew Yodc 

(b) 

BOUSTANI, PEARSE 

On or about July 21,2013, SUBEVA wrote an email to 

stating: "[W]e should also keep a cushion for 

Proindicus of $17mn so that we don't need to go pack to MoF and they are on our side." 

(c) On or about July 25, 2013, Privinvest sent approximately 

$1 million from the Proindicus loan proceeds to a bank account that PEARSE held at UAE 

Bank 2, which payment passed through a correspondent bank account in the United States 

and the Eastem District of New York. 

(d) On or about September 1, 2013, Privinvest sent approximately 

$1 million from the Proindicus loan proceeds to a bank account that PEARSE held at UAE 

Banlc 2, which payment passed through a co11·espondent bank account in the United States 

and the Eastem District of New York. 

(e) On o1· about October 11, 2013, Investment Bank 2 sent 

$350 million in EMATUM loan proceeds, less its fees of more than $37 million, to 
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Investment Ban1c 1 's bank account at New York City Ban1c 1, which payment passed through 

the Eastern District ofNew York. 

(f) On or about October 11, 2013, Investment Bank 1 sent 

approximately $312 million in EMATUM loan proceeds from New York City Ban1c 1 to 

Privinvest, which payment passed through the Eastern District ofN ew York. 

(g) On or about October 23, 2013, a Privinvest entity with a bank 

account in the UAE sent approximately $800,000 to SINGH;s ban1c account at UAE Bank 2, 

which passed through a correspondent bank account in the United States and through the 

Eastern District of New Y ode 

(h) On ot about November 24, 2013 

BOUSTANI an invoice for $400,000 for a "Real Estate Project Purchase in Mozambique 

Project," to be paid to the UAE~based bank account of a third pmty. 

(i) On or about November 26, 2013, Privinvest whed $400,000 

from its UAE~based bank through a bank inN ew Y ode City to the U AE~based bank account 

specified in the invoice referenced in subparagraph (h) above, which payment passed through 

the Eastem District ofN ew York. 

(j) On ot about March 31,201 BOUSTANI 

an invoice for $1 million from a UAE~based third~party entity fot "CONSTRUCTION 

WORK IN THE MOZAMBICAN EXCLUSIVE ECONOMIC ZONE (EEZ)., 

(k) On ot about April2, 2014, Privinvest wired $1 million from its 

UAE~based bank through a bank in New York City and through the Eastem District of New 

York to the UAE~based banlc account specified in the invoice referenced in subparagraph (j) 

above. 
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(1) On or about April 8, 2014, BOUSTANian 

invoice for $1.75 million for a "Real Estate Project Purchase in Mozambique.'' 

(m) On or about Apri19, 2014, Privinvest wired $1 million from its 

UAE~based bank through a bank in New York City and through the Eastern District of New 

York to the UAE~based ban1c account specified in the invoice referenced in subparagraph (1) 

above. 

(n) On or about May 28, 2014, Privinvest wired $976,000 from its 

UAE~based bank account through a bank in New York City and through the Eastern District 

ofNew Yorlc to the UAE~based bank account specified in the invoice referenced in 

subparagraph (1) above. 

(o) On or about April8, 2014, BOUSTANI sent an email to 

-detailing bribes and kickbacks Privinvest paid or intended to be paid in connection 

with the Proindicus and EMATUM projects. 

(p) On or about March 14, 2016, other co~ 

conspirators flew from London, England to John F. Kennedy Intemational Airport, in 

Queens, New Y orlc, to attend meetings with investors regarding the exchange of the 

EMATUM loan participation notes for Eurobonds. 

(q) On or about March 15, 2016, during a meeting in New York 

together with others, provided false and misleading information to 

investors regarding Mozambique's economic prospects, debt level and its ability and 

intention to meet its EMATUM debt obligations to induce them to exchange EMATUM loan 

participation notes for Eurobonds. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 3551 et rum.) 
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COUNT THREE 
(Conspiracy to Violate the FCPA Anti~Bribery and Intemal Controls Provisions) 

99. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 93 are realleged 

and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph. 

100. In or about and between January 2012 and February 2017, both dates 

being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastem District of New York and elsewhere, the ~' 

defendants ANDREW PEARSE, SURJAN SINGH and DETELINA SUBEV A, together 

with others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to commit offenses against the United 

States, namely: 

(a) Being an employee and agent of an issuer, to corruptly make use 

of the mails and means of instrumentalities of interstate commerce in furtherance of an offer, 

payment, promise to pay, and authorization of the payment of any money, offer, gift, promise 

to give, and authorization of the giving of anything of value, to one or more foreign officials, 

and to one or more persons, while knowing that all or a portion of such money and thing of 

value would be and had been offered, given, and promised to one or more foreign officials, 

for purposes of: (i) influencing acts and decisions of such foreign official in his or her official 

capacity; (ii) inducing such foreign official to do and omit to do acts in violation of the 

lawful duty of such official; (iii) securing any improper advantage; and (iv) inducing such 

foreign official to use his or her influence with a foreign government and agencies and 

instrumentalities thereof to affect and influence acts and decisions of such govemment and 

agencies and instrumentalities, in order to assist Investment Bank 1 and others in obtaining 

and retaining business, for and with, and directing business to, Privinvest, Investment Ban1c 
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1, PEARSE, SINGH, SUBEVA, and others, contrary to the FCPA, Title 15, United States 

Code, Sections 78dd~1 and 78ff; and 

(b) To circumvent and cause to be circumvented a system of 

internal controls at Investment Bank 1, contrary to Title 15, United States Code, Sections 

78m(b)(2)(B), 78m(b)(4), 78m(b)(5) and 78ff(a). 

101. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects, within the 

Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants ANDREW PEARSE, SURJAN 

SINGH and DETELINA SUBEV A, together with others, did commit and cause to be 

committed, among others, the following: 

OVERT ACTS 

(a) On or about November 19, 2012, PEARSE sent an email to 

Investment Banlc 1 Employee 1, stating that the EMEA Executive "said no to the 

combination ofMoz[ambique] and your friend [Privinvest Co~Conspirator 2], so we need to 

structure him out of the picture." 

(b) In or about February 2013, PEARSE, SINGH and SUBEVA 

commissioned Due Diligence Firm 1 to advise on potential corruption and bribery risks 

involving members of the Mozambican govemment in the contemplated Privinvest 

transaction, which diligence PEARSE, SINGH and SUBEVA then purposefully concealed 

from Investment Bank 1 's compliance depa1tment. 

(c) On or about February 15,2013, SINGH and SUBEVA provided 

a list ofProindicus's intended directors to Due Diligence Fitm 1 to pre-screen the potential 

directors. 
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(d) On or about June 21, 2013, PEARSE, SINGH and SUBEVA 

submitted a memorandum to Investment Bank 1 's Credit Risk Management team that falsely 

described why the Proindicus Loan was being increased and failed to inform Investment 

Ban1c 1 that the p1·oposed loan increase was being used to make bribe and kickback payments 

to the co~conspirators, including Mozambican government officials. 

(e) On or about July 8, 2013, Privinvest made a payment of $1 

million from its bank account in the UAE to a bank account in Portugal for the benefit o. 

which passed through a correspondent bank account at New York City Bank 1 

and the Eastern District of New York. 

(f) On or about July 2 7, 20 13, PEARSE sent an email from his 

personal email account to SUBEVA at her personal email account, stating: "[I]fyou go into 

the properties of each doc, it shows you as the author. You may want to delete and resend" 

the documents. 

(g) On or about August 4, 2013, SUBEVA, using her personal 

email account, sent an email to PEARSE at his personal email account that stated: "[A]s 

promised, below is suggested 'script' for the DD [due diligence] meeting with the lady fi·om 

Ministly of Fisheries. These questions have been answered very well before so should 

ensure a ve1y productive low risk meeting. It overlaps well with the [Investment Bank 1] 

list." 

(h) On or about August 4, 2013, SUBBVA sent an email tolll 
ding information for a due diligence meeting with Investment Bank 1 

scheduled for the next day. 
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(i) On or about August 5, 2013, SUBEVA used her personal email 

account to send PEARSE at his personal email account another due diligence scdpt, which, 

she explained, ''[M]ay be helpful to go to S as it has gone to he should be 

prepared to handle the DD [due diligence] questions on competition, export plans and why 

ADM [Abu Dhabi MAR] that are part of the list." 

(j) On or about August 5, 2013, SINGH traveled to Mozambique 

and led the Investment Bank 1 deal team conducting due diligence for the EMATUM LPN 

transaction. 

(k) On or about September 11, 2013, Investment Bank 1 sent 

approximately $500 million in EMATUM loan proceeds, less its fees, to Privinvest, which 

payment passed through a correspondent bank account at New York City Banlc 1 and the 

Eastern District of New York. 

(1) On or about October 23, 2013, Logistics International sent a 

wire transfer of $1.175 million to a Mozambican bank account for the benefit of. 

payment passed through a correspondent bank account at New York City 

Bank 1 and the Eastern District ofN ew York. 

(m) On or about May 15, 2014, after repeiving an email from a 

member of the Investment Bank 1 deal team asking him to provide verification of 

the request to PEARSE, who 

responded: l'I am trying to get hold of uncle [SINGH]. Don't have a call plse until I have 

spoken with him and conformed wot the [expletive] this is about." 

(n) On or about the same day, May 15, 2014, after spealdng with 
I 

SINGH, PEARSE wrote an email and BOUSTANI, stating: "Uncle is i I 
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sorting it out. There is some stupid UK l'egulatory requirement . . . . In any event I told 

him to tell [an Investment Bank 1 employee who made the initial request], that she is fired if 

she doesn't behave in the future!" 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 3551 et seq.) 

COUNT FOUR 
(Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering) 

102. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 93 are realleged 

and incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph. 

103. In or about and between 2013 and the date of the filing of this 

Indictment, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District ofNew 

York and elsewhere, the defendants JEAN BOUSTANI, 

CHANG PEARSE, 

SURJAN SINGH and DETELINA SUBEV A, together with others, did lmowingly and 

intentionally conspire to transport, transmit and transfer monetary instruments and funds to 

one or more places outside the United States from one or more places inside the United 

States, and to one or more places inside the United States from one or more places outside 

the United States, (a) with the intent to promote the carrying on of one or more specified 

unlawful activities, to wit: (i) a violation ofthe FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Sections 

78dd-l and 78ff; (ii) offenses against a foreign nation involving the bdbery of a public 

official or misapproptiation, theft, and embezzlement of public funds by and for the benefit 

of a public official, in violation of Mozambican law, as defuied in Title 18, United States 

Code, Section l956(c)(7)(B)(iv); (iii) wire fraud, in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, 

Sectionl343; and (iv) fraud in the sale of securities, in violation of Title 15, United States 
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Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff (collectively, the "Specified Unlawful Activities"), contrary 

to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(2)(A); and (b) lmowingthat the monetary 

instmments and funds involved in the transportation, transmission and transfer represented the 

proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, and 1m owing that such transportation, 

transmission and transfer was designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the 

nature, location, source, ownership and control ofthe proceeds of one or more specified 

unlawful activities, to wit: the Specified Unlawful Activities, contrary to Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1956(a)(2)(B)(i). 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 3551 et seq.) 

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
ASTOCOUNTONE 

104. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants charged in 

Count One that, upon their conviction of such offense, the govemment will seek forfeitUl'e in 

accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2), which requires any person 

convicted of such offense, to forfeit any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds 

obtained directly or indirectly as a result of such offense. 

105. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act 

or omission ofthe defendants: 

(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 

(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; 

(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or 
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(e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be 

divided without difficulty; 

it is the intent ofthe United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as 

incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b )(1 ), to seek forfeiture of any other 

property of the defendants up to the value of the forfeitable property described in this forfeiture 

~llegation. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(2) and982(b)(1); Title21, United 

States Code, Section 853(p)) 

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
AS TO COUNTS TWO AND THREE 

106. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants charged in 

Counts Two and Three that, upon their conviction of any such offenses, the United States 

will seek forfeiture in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(l)(C) 

and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), which require any person convicted of 

such offenses to forfeit any property, real or personal, constituting, or derived from, proceeds 

obtained directly or indirectly as a result of such offenses. 

107. If any of the above~described forfeitable property, as a result of any act 

or omission of the defendants: 

(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

(b) has been transfen-ed or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 

(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; 

(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or 
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(e) has been commingled with other prope1ty which cam1ot be 

divided without difficulty; 

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p ), 

to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendants up to the value of the forfeitable 

property described in this forfeiture allegation. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C); Title 21, United States 

Code, Section 8~3(p); Title 28, United States Code, Section 246l(c)) 

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
ASTOCOUNTFOUR 

108. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants charged in 

Count Four that, upon their conviction of such offense, the government will seek forfeiture in 

accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), which requires any person 

convicted of such offense to forfeit any property, real or personal, involved in such offense, 

or any property traceable to such prope1ty. 

109. If any of the above~described forfeitable prope1ty, as a result of any act 

or omission of the defendants: 

(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 

(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; 

(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or 

(e) has been commingled with other prope1ty which cannot be 

divided without difficulty; 
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it is the intent ofthe United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), 

as inoo!'pol'ated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b )(1 ), t6 seek fo1'feiture of any 

otherprope1·ty ofthe defendants up to the value oftho forfeitable pl'operty dosodbod ht this 

fbtfeitu1·e allegation. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(l) and 982(b)(1); Title 21, 

United States Code, Section 853(p)) · . . 

{4~~.~ 
RICHARD P. DONOGHUE 
U}ITTEDSTATESATTORNEY 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

,..-"" ) ,/) , •. •·· .. /. (...._.;:?' , .. /'' . 
/ ' .... / ;:,:.>'? ...... . .... .--, ... ··· ... ·'/ 
~~i3~1Wl~1~~b~i( /;U&~t? 
CHIEF, MONEY LAUNDERING AND 
ASSET RECOVERY SECTION, 
CRIMINAL DIVISION, 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

DANIELS .. KAHN 
CHIEF, FCPA UNIT, 
FRAUD SECTION, 
CRIMINAL DIVISION, 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
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F. #2016R00695 
FORMDBD-34 
JUN. 85 

No. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN District ofNEW YORK 

CRJMINAL DIVISION 
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

vs. 

PEARSE, SURJAN SINGH rmd DETELINA SUBEVA, 
Defendants. 

INDICTMENT 

(T. 18, U.S.C., §§ 371, 981(a)(l)(C), 982(a)(l), 982(a)(2)(B), 982(b)(l), 1343, 1349, 1956(h) and3551 et 
~-; T. 21, U.S.C., § 853(p); T. 28, U.S.C., § 246l(c).) 
~ 
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A true bilL ~ C ~ ~-;:,;e;;.;on 
-· ..._, 

Filed in open court this _________________ day of ____ _ 
A.D.20 

Clerk 

BaiL$ -----------------

MatthewS. Amatruda and Mark E. Bini, Assistant U.S. Attorneys (718) 
254-7012, MargaretA. Moeser, Sean O'Donnel4 DavidFuhr, U.S. 

Department of Justice Trial Attorneys, (202) 353-2467 
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